# The Plug-In Scam: GM and EPA Misrepresentation of the PHEV

# By Pat Murphy, Plan Curtail



First Experimental PHEV – December 1974



First Production PHEV – December 2010

January 2012

# Contents

Introduction	1
Pluggable Hybrid Electric Vehicle History	2
The Modern PHEV	3
The PHEV MPG Sales Efforts Supporters	6
PHEV Exaggerations Exposed	8
How MPG Numbers Were Misrepresented	9
Volt MPG Misrepresentations	10
The High-Risk Volt PHEV Architecture	15
Toyota's PHEV Strategy	18
Conclusion	20

#### Introduction

In a March 2010 article, "Plug-In Vehicles: The First Great Fraud of the New Millennium," author John Petersen discussed the weaknesses of the plug-in hybrid or pluggable hybrid electric vehicle (PHEV).<sup>1</sup> He followed this with a Feb 14, 2011 article, "Why Plug-In Vehicles Are a Luxury No Nation and No Investor Can Afford," <sup>2</sup> and then an August 25, 2011 article, "It's Time to Kill the Electric Car, Drive a Stake Through Its Heart and Burn the Corpse." <sup>3</sup> The PHEV is a new car architecture that has been lauded by utilities, coal companies, "greens," car companies, activists, environmentalists, and politicians – both liberal and conservative. The PHEV may not be the first great fraud of the millennium—possibly that could be reserved for credit default swaps and other financial chicanery. But "fraud" or "scam" is an applicable word to describe the evolution of the PHEV. This section reviews the PHEV's history and shows how the EPA labeling system for the PHEV was even more flawed and suspect than that for the battery electric vehicle (BEV). This report brings a badly needed perspective to the excessive Miles per Gallon equivalent (MPGe) claims of PHEV vehicles.

The enthusiasm for the PHEV is based principally on highly misleading MPGe claims. In 2008, presidential candidate Barack Obama promised to commit the United States to building one million pluggable hybrids, averaging 150 MPG, by 2015.<sup>4</sup> In August 2009, Fritz Henderson, president of General Motors (GM), at that time the largest auto manufacturer in the world, claimed 230 miles per gallon for the Chevrolet Volt, the world's first commercial PHEV, which shipped in December, 2010.<sup>5</sup> These numbers are bogus; they are based on arcane algorithms developed by manufacturers, PHEV advocates, and government agencies. To understand the propaganda of car, coal, and power companies, an "apples to apples" comparison is needed. It is important to bring the current misleading MPGe comparison for the PHEV to scientific measures, such as CO<sub>2</sub> generated or BTUs (British thermal units) consumed per mile traveled. And all the energy used, including fuel for the power plants that generate the electricity for electric cars, must be included.

#### Pluggable Hybrid Electric Vehicle History

In a late 2008 news article, *Car Talk* radio hosts Ray and Tom Magliozzi wrote, "But if [we were] to simplify it, [we'd] say that today's gasoline electric hybrids use electricity to supplement a gasoline engine, whereas tomorrow's plug-in hybrids will use a gasoline engine to supplement electric power." This is a good layperson's summary but with a questionable assumption. It assumes that a PHEV is a follow-on or improved version of a contemporary hybrid, an idea fostered by PHEV advocates. This implies that cars such as the Toyota Prius were simply a stepping stone to some future technology, which is not the case. Paraphrasing Ray and Tom's description slightly and removing the time progression (today and tomorrow), one might say that gasoline electric vehicles like GM's Volt use a gasoline engine to supplement an electric motor. This second wording suggests two competing technologies, one focused primarily on existing hybrid technology and the other on a new kind of car—a BEV with an added gasoline engine operating an electricity generator.

The history of pure BEVs that get all their power from the electric power grid as well as more recent proposals for PHEVs, which use electricity from the grid and also burn gasoline, goes back several decades.<sup>6</sup> In 1972, scientist Victor Wouk concluded that battery electric vehicles were not commercially viable due to battery limitations that resulted in very short trips. He began thinking about combining the low-emissions benefits of an electric car (ignoring power plant gases) with the power of a gasoline engine to produce a vehicle powered mostly from the charged batteries. Wouk was given a government contract to build a prototype. He combined a 1972 Buick Skylark body, lead acid batteries, and a Mazda Wankel engine to build an electric hybrid vehicle, which he completed in 1974.<sup>7</sup> Although it passed EPA emissions tests, further EPA funding did not materialize.

Wouk has been called the "father of the hybrid car," but possibly the title is not completely accurate. Wouk's system was not an early gasoline hybrid car, as implemented in the late 1990s by Toyota (Prius) and Honda (Insight), but an electric vehicle whose batteries were charged from the power grid as well as an auxiliary gasoline-powered generator—the kind of power train used in the Chevrolet Volt.

Possibly Wouk's title should be changed to "father of the PHEV," the title currently bestowed by some on Andrew Frank, professor of Mechanical and Aeronautical Engineering at the University of California at Davis.<sup>8</sup> According to author Sherry Boschert, Frank had students build a version of a PHEV when he began teaching at the University of Wisconsin in the late 1960s. In the ensuing decades,<sup>9</sup> Frank modified nine other gasoline vehicles to run on externally charged batteries with a gasoline engine powering an electric generator to extend the range. Whether Wouk or Frank was first or whether one design was better than another is not important. What *is* important is that the PHEV concept is 36 years old. No major breakthroughs came during this period as automotive technological improvements are usually incremental and rarely can be rushed.

The idea of electric and hybrid cars was not limited to universities, research labs, and tinkerer's garages. In 1976, the U.S. Congress enacted Public Law 94-413, the Electric and Hybrid Vehicle Research, Development, and Demonstration Act. Among the law's objectives were to work with industry to improve batteries, motors, controllers, and other hybrid-electric components.<sup>10</sup> Seventeen years later, in 1993, under the leadership of President Bill Clinton, the government and the domestic auto industry formed the Partnership for a New Generation of Vehicles (PNGV) to produce family-sized fuel-efficient diesel hybrid vehicles that could get 80 MPG. <sup>11,12,13</sup> Involved parties included Department of Energy (DOE) national laboratories, universities, suppliers, and the United States Council for Automotive Research (USCAR, a legal partnership between DaimlerChrysler Corporation, Ford Motor Company, and General Motors Corporation. GM, Ford, and Chrysler each successfully developed a high-mileage diesel hybrid concept car.

In 2000, GM completed the Precept,<sup>14</sup> which achieved 80 MPG. Ford's Prodigy was also completed in 2000 and achieved 72 MPG.<sup>15</sup> Chrysler's ESX-3 also achieved 72 MPG.<sup>16</sup> All three cars were diesel HEVs with architectures similar to the gasoline hybrid Toyota Prius, also initiated in 1993. A variety of other innovative technologies were tried in the three vehicles, including lower vehicle weight, increased engine efficiency, and regenerative braking, a process in which deceleration is used to help charge the battery. In a 2001 speech, Al Gore summarized the work done, emphasizing the success of the

diesel hybrid technology.<sup>17</sup> During the entire Clinton-Gore term (1993–2001), the U.S. car companies that developed some variations of hybrids and electric vehicles were partially funded by the government.<sup>18,19</sup>

The PNGV program to build diesel hybrids was cancelled in 2001 (at the beginning of President George W. Bush's administration) at the request of GM, Ford, and Chrysler. It was replaced the following year by a new cooperative automotive research partnership called Freedom CAR, chartered to develop technologies for hydrogen-powered fuel cell electric vehicles.<sup>20</sup> (CAR stands for Cooperative Automobile Research.) In addition to the DOE, partners included oil companies (BP America, Chevron, ConocoPhillips, and Exxon Mobil Corporation), Shell Hydrogen LLC, and the members of USCAR (GM, Ford, and Chrysler). This combination of the U.S. government, oil companies, and car companies were committing to a new fuel cell technology and abandoning the diesel hybrid cars that had been under development for eight years. Bush's rejection of the diesel hybrid car, supported by U.S. car companies, may go down in U.S. automotive history as a watershed decision that allowed Japanese manufacturers to dominate the hybrid market for a decade—dominance that still continues.

In his January 2003 State of the Union speech, Bush predicted that "the first car driven by a child born today could be powered by hydrogen, and pollution-free." The fuel cell effort continued for another six years until May, 2009, when the Obama administration redirected the nation's automotive future away from the fuel cell to the PHEV.<sup>21</sup> The automobile industry, with the support of the U.S. government, spent six years on fuel cell development, followed by eight years on diesel hybrid development, that is, a total of fourteen years on two technologies that were eventually abandoned.

## The Modern PHEV

The government and major car companies have now moved in a new technological direction—the PHEV. GM had begun prototype work for a PHEV in 2006 under the direction of Bob Lutz, a long-time innovative leader in the auto industry, who had scorned HEVs like the Toyota Prius since their inception.<sup>22</sup> The success of the Prius and the founding of a new company Tesla, formed to make high-performance BEVs using lithium ion batteries, affected Lutz's views. The PHEV movement was also being pushed by utility companies. Not surprisingly, the electric power industry saw great opportunity in cars that used electricity rather than gasoline. President Obama kept his campaign promise by providing massive subsidies to the industry as well as tax credits to buyers. GM committed to building a PHEV, the Chevrolet Volt, not much different from the EV1 they had canceled a few years before. In fact, the basic architectural prototype for the Volt was a research version of the EV1 with four seats rather than two and with a small engine generating electricity to charge the batteries.<sup>23</sup>

The Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) may have played a significant role in GM's and Obama's decision. EPRI is a nonprofit organization, funded by the nation's electrical utilities and established in 1973 to advance the technology of electricity production. As the American Petroleum Institute is the main U.S. trade organization for the oil and natural gas industry, so EPRI is the key trade organization for electrical utilities. EPRI conducts research and advocates for its positions with local, regional, and national organizations, including car manufacturers and government agencies. Its purpose is: <sup>24</sup>

The Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) leads research, development, and demonstration of technical and operational solutions in electricity generation, delivery, and use. The focus and application of EPRI's research and activities span virtually every aspect of the power industry, including reliability, safety, the environment, and energy efficiency. The Institute's collaborative model engages EPRI members, participants, scientists, and engineers, along with experts from academia and other business sectors. As an independent, nonprofit center for public-interest energy and environmental research, EPRI's work is supported both by its members, which represent more than 90 percent of the electricity generated in the United States, and by growing international participation, representing more than 15 percent of EPRI's program support.

EPRI has collaborated with government organizations, auto manufacturers, and electric utilities in the development, testing, and demonstration of electricity-fueled transportation technologies.<sup>25</sup> The institute's electric vehicle program began in 1976 as an effort to understand the benefits and challenges of electricity as a transportation fuel. In 1991 EPRI joined with GM, Ford, Chrysler, and DOE to found the U.S. Advanced Battery Consortium (USABC). USABC's purpose was to advance electric and hybrid vehicle battery technologies. In 1999, EPRI formed the Hybrid Electric Vehicle Working Group with utilities Southern California Edison, the New York Power Authority, and Southern Company, along with members of the automotive industry, the U.S. government, regulatory agencies, and university research organizations. This consortium focused on PHEV and BEV technology and marketing. In 2003, EPRI developed a partnership with DaimlerChrysler to design, develop, test, and demonstrate the PHEV Sprinter, a Mercedes-Benz light, commercial vehicle prototype.

EPRI defined its role and the early PHEV concepts in a key 2001 report entitled "Comparing the Benefits and Impacts of Hybrid Electric Vehicle Options."<sup>26</sup> Other organizations that participated in the preparation of that report included Arthur D. Little, Inc., Southern California Edison, the University of California at Davis Hybrid Electric Vehicle Center, GM, Ford, Argonne National Laboratory, National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL), Applied Decision Analysis, DOE, and the Sacramento Municipal Utility District. Key individuals who participated included Fritz Kalhammer and Robert Graham (both with EPRI at the time) as well as Andrew Frank and Mark Duvall from the University of California at Davis. This document laid out the rationale for PHEVs and BEVs. It defined different PHEVs based on their distance driven on batteries as well as their configuration architecture (serial or parallel). The year 2001 was the same year that GM, Ford, and Chrysler moved away from the PNGV's diesel hybrids. It was also the year that GM made the decision to cancel the EV1 program.

In the past, car companies, oil companies, and various U.S. governmental agencies cooperated in pushing the private car over mass transportation options. It should be no surprise to discover a relationship between coal companies and electric utilities to push for electric cars to replace gasoline vehicles. Nor is it a surprise that the lobbying is focused on a business opportunity rather than on reducing CO<sub>2</sub> emissions or fossil fuel consumption. EPRI continues to lobby for electric vehicles.<sup>27</sup>

Various private groups have also been formed to support the PHEV concept. CalCars (California Cars Initiative) is a nonprofit organization founded in 2002 by Felix Kramer, a provider of communications, business development, and marketing services for startup

companies. Kramer intended to promote what he calls the clean, advanced technology of PHEVs as a key to addressing global warming.<sup>28</sup> CalCars focused on advocacy to prove market demand and on technology development to demonstrate that PHEVs can be extensions of current model lines. The organization's stated intention was to force car makers to build PHEVs, by applying public pressure and enacting government legislation. Kramer worked closely with Mark Duvall, who had moved from the University of California to the position of director of electric transportation at EPRI.

In September 2004, Kramer and a few California engineers converted a 2004 Toyota Prius into a PHEV, which they labeled Prius+. The CalCars website said that the Prius+ achieved roughly double the fuel economy of a standard Prius and could make trips of up to nine miles using only electric power. This was achieved by adding 300 pounds of lead acid batteries to the car and connecting these batteries to the electric motor of the Prius. However, the maximum speed was 34 miles per hour for the modified car when operating under battery power (a detail rarely mentioned in the press). CalCars called the PHEV a "hybrid with a plug."

In May 2006, CalCars flew a new version of the Prius+ that used lithium ion batteries to Washington, D.C. Numerous governors, senators, and members of the House of Representatives drove the car around the capital. There was tremendous enthusiasm generated by the PHEV presentations and demonstration rides. During this trip Kramer and Duvall, together with Andrew Frank, met with members of Congress and spoke to congressional committees. Senators expressed their amazement at the Prius+. Its proponents were extolled as visionary geniuses who, in a backyard, had developed products that global car manufacturers such as Toyota could not.

What made the car such a resounding success was the banner painted on the car stating "100+ miles per gallon" (see fig. 1, a common theme on PHEV websites and in PHEV literature. The 34 mile per hour (mph) maximum speed was not part of the label on the car nor emphasized in the literature. Congressional members thought they were viewing a car that got almost five times the average 21 MPG of the existing U.S. car fleet and that it could be done for existing cars at a cost of several thousand dollars! The repeated messages of "the technology is here" or "just around the corner" or "it's proven" was reassuring but much exaggerated. By the end of this public relations campaign, both presidential candidates were committed to high-tech PHEVs. The PHEV marketing campaign of CalCars, EPRI, and others was successful in reaching top politicians with sales rhetoric that was effective but, unfortunately, not accurate.



Figure 1: Banner for CalCar Prius + <sup>29</sup>

CalCars claims that their work led to the development of the 2010 Chevrolet Volt and the 2012 Toyota Plug-In Prius. The first CalCars Prius+ modification was made in 2004 and the first sizable shipments of the Volt were in 2011. The "technology that was here now" may have demonstrated the concept, but it took seven more years to develop a marketable product.

#### The PHEV MPG Sales Efforts Supporters

It was not simply EPRI and CalCars that influenced the presidential candidates. Senator Joseph Lieberman in a Loewy Lecture at Georgetown University on October 7, 2005 said, "And then we must remake our automobile engines as well. Vehicles that get 500 miles per gallon—or that use *no* refined crude oil—are within our grasp."

He further noted:

But we can do even better—dramatically better—with the plug-in hybrid that is just now on the threshold of commercialization. Like the present hybrids, it would use both a gasoline and electric motor. But the plug-in hybrid would be able to use the battery exclusively for the first 30 miles of a trip. That means a plug-in hybrid would use zero—zero—gallons of gas or any combustible fuel for the vast majority of its trips. And experts tell me it could effectively get the 500 miles per gallon on longer trips. This isn't pie in the sky. These vehicles could be in your garage within a couple of years.<sup>30</sup>

It is important to note that the 500 MPG is derived by replacing gasoline with ethanol and biodiesel. It does not include the fuels used to make electricity at power plants.

Lieberman's speech included the phrase "experts tell me that . . ." Two of the experts responsible for the 500 MPG quote are R. James Woolsey, ex-CIA director, and George Schultz (ex-Secretary of Labor, the Treasury, and State). They are co-chairs of the Committee on the Present Danger of which Joseph Lieberman is an honorary co-chair. In a 2005 policy paper entitled "Oil and Security," Woolsey and Schultz developed the 500 MPG claim.<sup>31</sup> Author Sherry Boschert, in her 2006 book *Plug-in Hybrids: The Cars That Will Recharge America*, quotes from this policy paper, saying:

A hybrid that gets 50 miles per gallon could get 100 miles per gallon if made from carbon composites that would be lighter but no more expensive than conventional materials. Run that lightweight hybrid on 85 percent cellulosic ethanol or a similar proportion of biodiesel, and it would get hundreds of miles per gallon of gasoline or petroleum derived fuel. Upgrade that car to a plug-in hybrid that runs 30 miles on electricity before tapping the liquid fuel and it might get 1,000 miles per gallon of gasoline.<sup>32</sup>

In a *Wall Street Journal* article entitled "Gentlemen, Start Your Plug-ins," Woolsey states, "A 50-MPG hybrid, once it becomes plug-in, will likely get over 100 MPG of gasoline (call it "MPGg"); if it is also a flexible fuel vehicle using 85 percent ethanol (E-85), its MPGg rises to around 500."<sup>33</sup> Two years later Woolsey penned another *Wall Street Journal* article with Paula Dobriansky, noting that PHEVs would get more than 100 MPG and 500 MPG with E85.<sup>34</sup>

Another well-known energy expert is Joseph Romm, author of the 2004 book *The Hype About Hydrogen: Fact and Fiction in the Race to Save the Climate*. Romm and Andrew Frank co-authored a paper entitled "Hybrid Vehicles Gain Traction,"<sup>35</sup> which included the following statement:

These kinds of vehicles could travel 500 miles on one gallon of gasoline blended with five gallons of ethanol and thus continue a long-term strategy for dealing with the inevitable peak and subsequent decline in world oil supplies.

Romm commented further on the PHEV in a paper he and Peter Fox-Penner wrote for *Electric Wheels*, with the title "America needs to reduce its gasoline consumption. But how? By promoting plug-in hybrid electric vehicles."<sup>36</sup> The authors refer to the PHEV as one emerging technology with the potential to trigger transformative change in just five to ten years if government takes a few smart steps to spur its commercialization. They note,

In all-around driving, plug-in hybrids could average between 80 [MPG] and 160 MPG, compared with about 45 MPG for the best-known of today's conventional hybrids, the Toyota Prius. The gasoline savings could be even greater if plug-in hybrids were designed to run on biofuels; they could travel 500 miles on a gallon of gasoline blended with five gallons of ethanol.

One regional utility, Austin Energy Company, took a significant role in the branding effort of the PHEV as the supercar of the future. Austin Energy provides electricity to the capital city of Texas. It is a municipally owned electric utility that serves 388,000 residential and commercial customers with 2,600 megawatts (MW) of generation capacity from its interests in three gas-fired plants, a coal-fueled facility, and 16 percent ownership of a nuclear-powered electrical generating plant.<sup>37</sup> Renewable energy sources include wind power (214 MW) and landfill methane (13 MW). Power deregulation took effect in Texas in 2002, but as a city-owned utility, Austin Energy was not required to participate.

In January 2006, Roger Duncan, general manager of Austin Energy, formed Plug-In Partners to advocate for the PHEV by influencing other cities and garnering support to put pressure on manufacturers to build the cars. Part of their program was to get what they called "soft orders," essentially small refundable deposits for mythical PHEVs, which were to show manufacturers that high public interest existed. The program ended in October 2008.<sup>38</sup> The results, as reported on the Plug-In Partners website, showed that "The Plug-In Partners effort over the last three years that enlisted 631 partners, signed up 38,312 petitions and made 11,333 soft purchase orders and participated with outreach and educational efforts in over 88 conferences and expositions has been a critical success." <sup>39</sup> The soft purchase orders showed that after three years of marketing, fewer than 12,000 out of hundreds of millions of drivers were willing to make a refundable deposit. Nonetheless, this was heralded as a major triumph with Austin Energy stating that they had accomplished their mission and were now ending the program.

Plug In America is a nonprofit organization that also advocates for PHEVs. In a presentation to the California Air Resources Board in 2006, Plug In America stated that "Plug-in vehicles are practical, proven, and ready," noting that consumer demand is

already demonstrated (presumably by the small number of people who were driving early versions of battery vehicles).<sup>40</sup> The same presentation notes that 150 million emissions-free *consumer* miles have already been driven. This number was derived not from PHEVs but from the earlier BEVs made as a result of the CARB program. One hundred fifty million miles had certainly not been driven in PHEVs! This is symptomatic of the overstatements of PHEV advocates. In 2008, Plug In America received their 501c3 designation and hired their first employee.<sup>41</sup>

#### PHEV Exaggerations Exposed

The idea of entrepreneurs in home garages modifying complex products like the Prius to develop a fully functional pluggable hybrid is impressive, but without independent analysis or verification, it should be treated more as public relations than as real product development. As noted earlier, The CalCars modified Prius+ built in 2004 was limited to a maximum of 34 mph in electric mode. The first conversion of a Prius that could run at freeway speeds did not take place until June, 2009,<sup>42</sup> more than four years after CalCars had claimed the PHEV concept was now proven.

Some organizations have carefully monitored the performance of experimental plug-in cars. In May 2008, Seattle mayor Greg Nickels announced a plan to test plug-in hybrid electric vehicles in his city.<sup>43</sup> Seattle joined with the Port of Seattle, King County, and the Puget Sound Clean Air Agency to test the performance of PHEVs in an urban area. The DOE's Idaho National Laboratory (INL) provided matching funds. Thirteen Priuses were converted at a cost of \$12,000 each by A123Systems, a battery company located in Watertown, Massachusetts.

Nine months later (February 2009), in an article entitled "Reality Check on Plug-in Cars," Danny Westneat discussed the results.<sup>44</sup> He noted that the cars were advertised as getting more than 100 or 150 MPG but the actual results were about 51 MPG, close to the mileage of a standard Prius. (Contrast this to CalCars 100 MPG+ claim.) The plug-in Priuses were driven a total of 17,636 miles. They used standard gas/battery hybrid Priuses with an extra battery charged by using a 120-volt wall socket. Westneat also reported on the experience of the Internet company Google with nine plug-in Prius hybrids the company operated that averaged 54.9 MPG.<sup>45</sup> He quotes Tom Turrentine, director of the Plug-In Hybrid Electric Vehicle Research in Davis, California, as saying,

Google is now sort of embarrassed about their results. I think we all need to be more careful. When we say we're going to get 100 or 150 miles per gallon, then that's setting expectations way too high. It just leads to disappointment. We need to deal in reality.

Westneat goes on to say that a lot of green projects will turn out to be hype. For some years there was no independent analysis made of the successes and failures of the conversions of Priuses or any other conversions of different car models. In late 2009, an extensive study was completed by independent researchers at the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) and Idaho National Laboratory (INL).<sup>46</sup> This report evaluated the performance of about 100 modified Priuses. The average mileage was reported to be about 51 MPG, much lower than the 150 MPG claim by President Obama for PHEVs and the 230 MPG claim for the Volt by GM.

This is an example of technical euphoria combined with enthusiastic people making unsubstantiated claims.

# How MPG Numbers Were Misrepresented

PHEVs would be interesting laboratory concept cars except for one thing—the unrealistic claims of very high PHEV MPG numbers. EPRI, CalCars, Austin Energy, and Plug In America, as well as individuals such as Romm, Woolsey, Schultz, Kramer, Frank, and Duvall have also been extremely successful in using highly inflated MPG numbers in marketing the PHEV concept. Their spiel is based on the idea of a "proven" technology (based on a few backyard modifications). CalCars in particular had a strong effect on the positive perception of the PHEV. Their story is simple—the MPG obtained with a modified Prius is more than double that of a conventional Prius, i.e., "100+ MPG." Their modes of calculation are suspect and have never been published. However, they can be easily derived, as I will show.

<u>AFS Trinity Power</u> MPG hype was not limited to the Prius+. In November 2008, AFS Trinity Power Corporation, a Bellevue, Washington company, withdrew their plug-in hybrid (a modified Saturn Vue SUV) from the Los Angeles Auto Show after the show management refused to allow them to advertise their product as a 150+ MPG car. AFS had been showing the car for about a year, taking it to Washington in April of 2008 to lobby Congress, repeating CalCars visit in 2006. AFS implied that the position of the auto show management was based on jealousy or the wish to hide AFS's technical advances. AFS parked the modified car display on the roadway near the convention and provided test rides and literature.<sup>47</sup>

AFS explained their position in a press release pointing out that the show sponsors wanted the companies' mileage claims verified by the EPA, which measures mileage standards.<sup>48</sup> The AFS Trinity mileage calculation method is illustrated in a graphic, figure 2, from the AFS website.<sup>49</sup> AFS assumes a distribution of 80 percent electricity (powered by the batteries) and 20 percent normal mode (powered by the gasoline engine). The car selected for modification had a rating of 30 MPG.



Figure 2: Method for Calculating MPG (AFS Website)

The AFS claim of 150 MPG is derived by using a very simplistic formula:

PHEV<sub>mpg</sub> = EPA<sub>mpg</sub> / (Dist<sub>gas</sub> / Dist<sub>total</sub>)

 $PHEV_{mpg}$  is the number to be derived.  $EPA_{mpg}$  is a car's MPG rating set by the EPA for every car manufactured. Dist<sub>total</sub> is the total distance traveled for an MPG test and Dist<sub>gas</sub> is the distance traveled for the MPG test using only the gasoline engine. The distance traveled using only electricity would be Dist<sub>total</sub> minus Dist<sub>gas</sub>, but it is not a component of this formula. In this particular example, in figure 3.2, there is no trip distance given; however, the ratio of 20 percent hybrid and 80 percent electricity suffices because the particular distance is not important but only the ratio of  $\text{Dist}_{gas}$  to  $\text{Dist}_{total}$  for any arbitrary distance. Assuming a 100-mile trip (any number would give the same result of the ratio in this example), the evaluated formula for the AFS Trinity, using the ratio and MPG from figure 2 is:

150 MPG = 30 MPG / (20 miles/100 miles)

The AFS website notes that the question "Does it really get 150 miles per gallon?"<sup>50</sup> is the question most frequently asked by prospective buyers. Their response to the question includes another AFS example that can be used to test the formula. In this example someone drives 40 miles a day, 6 days a week, and 80 miles on one weekend day, giving a total weekly distance of 320 miles. The first 280 miles are all electric. The next 40 miles, on one weekend day, will use the gasoline engine, which might consume two gallons of gasoline for the week. From this brief statement, two numbers can be derived. First, if the gasoline engine uses two gallons of gasoline to drive 40 miles, then the car used in this example gets 20 MPG, which is the EPA mpg. The gasoline engine is used for 40 miles, which is Dist<sub>gas</sub>, out of a total distance driven of 320 miles, which is Dist<sub>total</sub>. Substituting these numbers in the formula gives:

160 MPG = 20 MPG / (40 miles/320 miles)

For this example, the AFS website says that the evaluation uses a more conservative 150 MPG to take into account that MPG will vary depending on where and how fast a car is driven. AFS says they are "comfortable" that 150 MPG of gasoline is a good number for 78 percent of American drivers driving the way most Americans drive. The website shows four other examples of different trip lengths and different distances driven, using gasoline to get different results for PHEV<sub>mpg</sub>. Example A gets infinite miles per gallon, example B gets 320 MPG, example C gets 73 MPG, and example D gets 60 MPG. All these mileage numbers are obtained driving the same car presumably at the same speed. One might reasonably wonder why there is such a spread of MPG values for the same car. The reason is that the difference in the MPG calculated is determined only by the ratio of miles driven using gasoline to total miles driven.

## **Volt MPG Misrepresentations**

The quoted MPG numbers for the Chevrolet Volt have changed dramatically over time. The chronology of announcements is reviewed below.

<u>Chevrolet Volt – 150 MPG</u> In 2007, GM vice-chairman Bob Lutz introduced the Volt concept at the North American International Auto Show <sup>51</sup> as a "battery-powered, four-passenger electric vehicle that uses a gas engine to create additional electricity to extend its range." (This is not a bad definition of a PHEV.) At the time Lutz was making presentations on the Volt, the MPG number given by GM was 50 MPG, using the gasoline engine, and the range possible from a fully charged battery was 40 miles. Lutz noted, "If you lived within 30 miles from work (60 miles round trip) and charged your vehicle every night when you came home or during the day at work, you would get 150 miles per gallon." <sup>52</sup> Lutz stated it slightly differently on another occasion saying, "By our calculation, if a person does a 60-mile trip, so that the internal combustion engine has to

help for the last 20, we figure the equivalent mileage would be about 150 miles per gallon." <sup>53</sup> In this example, EPA mpg is 50 MPG, Dist<sub>total</sub> is 60 miles and Dist<sub>gas</sub> is 20 miles. Plugging these numbers into the formula (PHEV mpg = EPA mpg / (Dist<sub>gas</sub> / Dist<sub>total</sub>) gives the following result:

150 MPG = 50 MPG / (20 miles /60 miles)

This misleading formula seems to assume that the energy that comes from electricity is somehow free—that fossil fuels (oil, coal, natural gas) are not being used so they are not included in the formula.

<u>Chevrolet Volt – 230 MPG</u> In August 2009, GM president Fritz Henderson made a major announcement as part of a marketing campaign extolling the miles per gallon for the upcoming Volt PHEV. A fuel economy of 230 MPG was given (considerably above the 150 MPG quoted by Bob Lutz in 2007) with reference made to a new EPA rating for PHEVs and electric cars. The EPA shortly thereafter noted it had not yet tested the Volt. <sup>54</sup> GM said that it was not backing away from the 230 MPG statement and that it was unlikely that the EPA would come out with a much lower number when they actually tested a Volt. Furthermore, Henderson noted that GM believed that coming out with the 230 MPG rating at this time is one way to change people's perception of "what kind of car the Volt is."

The fact that the EPA did not immediately challenge the 230 MPG number shows the government support for GM. At that time the U.S. government essentially owned GM; it probably did not want to challenge the company's CEO. As far as the idea of telling people what kind of car the Volt is, it says more about what kind of company GM was at the time, quoting 230 MPG for a car that was eventually labeled by the EPA at 60 MPG in November 2010. <sup>55</sup> Both GM and the EPA knew the misrepresentation came from a formula used to calculate fleet mileages but this was never acknowledged. <sup>56</sup> This methodology has been around since 2000 and is available on the EPA website. <sup>57</sup>

The 230 MPG claim of GM and the supportive response by EPA led to a storm of criticism concerning the hyped PHEV MPG claims. This led other agencies of the government to try to develop better measures.<sup>58</sup> Researchers from the DOE's National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL), Idaho National Laboratory (INL), and Argonne National Laboratory (ANL) cooperatively developed a method for predicting the real-world fuel and electricity consumption of PHEVs. NREL's method estimated fuel consumption of 4.2 L/100 km (55 MPG) and electricity consumption of 5.5 kWh/100 km (89 kWh/mi). The 55 MPG rating is well below GM's 150-MPG (Bob Lutz) and 230-MPG (Fritz Henderson) claims.

<u>Chevrolet Volt – 60 MPG</u> In November 2010, the first window label for the Volt was published by the EPA (see fig. 3). The label included a new term "combined composite," which gave the total average MPG number for the Volt, taking into consideration the mileage driven using the gasoline engine and the mileage driven on electricity. This number, somewhat hidden in the lower left hand part of the label, is 60 MPG. GM eventually accepted this MPG number, dropping the 230 MPG claim.<sup>59</sup>

EFA Fu Er	el Econ vironm	omy an ental Co	d omparisc	ons				Dual Fuel Vehic Electricity-Gasoli
Charge Time ••• ••• ••• •••• •••••••••••••••••••	All Electric When battery is fully charged, first 35 miles only. MPG equivalent 36 Wh Ars per 36 Wh Ars per 37 When better was if 38 What per was			Gas Only When electricity is used up, runs on gas for another 344 miles. MPG 2.7 gallons per combined city/hwy \$1,3002 cost per year ff cas only mode				
			35				F	79
Range	All Electric F	lange (battery	35 () Ext	ended Range	(gas)		E.	
Range (Miles)	All Electric F	ange (battery 20	35 /) Ext 30 40	ended Range	(gas) 60	350 3	360 37	
Range (Miles)	All Electric F 0 10	20 (combined comp mpact cars	35 () Ext 30 40 hosite)	50 Exan	(gas) 60 nples: Charg	350 3 jing Routines	360 37	
Range (Miles) How This Veh Among all vehic Worst	All Electric F 0 10 hicle Compares les and within co	20. (combined comp mpact cars Compact Cars	30 40 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 6	ended Range 50 Exan Miles betw	(gas) 60 nples: Charg driven een full charge	350 3 jing Routines Fuel Economy MPG	Blectricity Consumed	Electricity + Fuel Energy Cost
Range (Miles) How This Veh Among all vehic Worst &	All Electric F 0 10 icle Compares les and within co	20 (combined comp mpact cars Compact Cars	35 () Ext 30 40 cosite) 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60	ended Range 50 Exan Miles betw 30	(gas) 60 nples: Charg driven een full charge	350 3 ing Routines Fuel Economy MPG NA	Electricity Consumed 10.9 kWh	Electricity + Fuel Energy Cost 4¢/mi
Range (Miles) How This Veh Among all vehic Worst	All Electric F 0 10 iiele Compares les and within co	lange (battery 20 (combined comp mpact cars Compact Cars ipe only)	35 () Ext 30 40 0000000 60000000	ended Range 50 Exan Miles betw 30 45 60	(gas) 60 nples: Charg driven een full charge	350 3 Jing Routines Fuel Economy MPG NA 168 90	Electricity Consumed 10.9 kWh 12.9 kWh	Electricity + Fuel Energy Cost 4e/mi 5s/mi
Range (Miles) How This Veh Among all vehic Worst a Greenhouse Gas Worst	All Electric F 0 10 nicle Compares des and within co des (CO2 gimile, tailp 387	lange (battery 20 (combined comp mpact cars Compact Cars ipe only)	35 /) Ext 30 40 000000 0 6000000 0 60000000000	ended Range 50 Exam Miles betw 30 45 60 75	(gas) 60 nples: Charg driven een full charge	350 3 ging Routines Fuel Economy MPC NA 168 89 69	Electricity Consumed 10.9 kWh 12.9 kWh 12.9 kWh	Electricity + Fuel Energy Cost 4¢/mi 5¢/mi 6¢/mi 7¢/mi

Figure 3: November 2010 EPA Label for Volt<sup>60</sup>

However, there were other misleading statements on the label in the "Examples: Charging Routines" box in the lower right. The Fuel Economy MPG (column 2) is derived using the same misleading methods that AFS and GM used. Columns 1–4 of table 1 contain the information from the four columns of the box "Example: Charging Routines."

Col 1	Col 2	Col 3	Col 4	Col 5	Col 6		
Data	from Noven	nber 2010 Lab	bel	New [	New Data		
Miles Driven Between Fuel Charge Dist	Fuel Economy MPG	Electricity Consumed	Electricity & Fuel Energy Cost	Miles Driven Gasoline	PHEV <sub>mpg</sub>		
30	NA	10.9 kWh	\$.04/mile	0	NA		
45	168	12.9 kWh	\$.05/mile	10	167		
60	89	12.9 kWh	\$.06/mile	25	89		
75	69	12.9 kWh	\$.07/mile	40	69		
Never Charge	37	N/A	\$.09/mile				

Table 1: Volt "Charging Routine" Analysis

I have added two other columns to support the derivation that follows. Column 5 shows the miles driven using gasoline, or  $\text{Dist}_{gas}$  in the formula for calculation  $\text{PHEV}_{mpg}$ , which is being used here. A Volt can be drive 35 miles before the battery is exhausted (this is less than the 40 miles used in an earlier example to evaluate Bob Lutz's 2007 claim).

Entries in this column are determined by subtracting 35 from the entries in column 1 (Miles Driven Between Fuel Charge Dist). The result in the first row for the 30 mile trip is –5 and is set to 0 because no gasoline is used. The Miles Driven Gasoline in column 5, or Dist<sub>gas</sub> for the 45, 60 and 75 mile entries in column 1 are 10 miles (45 minus 35), 25 miles (60 minus 35) and 40 miles (75 minus 35), respectively.

Column 6 is the result of calculating MPG using the following formula:

 $PHEV_{mpg} = EPA_{mpg} / (Dist_{gas} / Dist_{total})$ 

and the data from the label. The bottom entry of 37 in column 2 (with heading of Never Charge) is the value for  $EPA_{mpg}$  in the formula. (In an earlier Lutz analysis, 50 MPG was given as the gasoline MPG). Note that the calculated results in column 6 are almost identical to the values from the label in column 2, verifying the formula.

To the reader who may be confused by this and wonder exactly what the point is, I emphasize that the point is to show the techniques used by the EPA and GM to provide misleading information to consumers. The mileage of a car is not dependent on the portion of a trip driven with gasoline but on the speed driven, the efficiency of the engine or motor, and the fuel that is used. This misleading MPG calculation was done to attract buyers to PHEVs, not to show actual MPG.

The November 2010 Volt window label was also the first window label to show  $CO_2$  emissions—unfortunately, also in a misleading way. The Volt emissions are given as the number 84 on a bar entitled "Greenhouse Gases ( $CO_2$  g/mile, tailpipe only)." The label includes a definition in the lower, dark part of the label that reads "MPG equivalent = 33.7 kWh for one gallon of gasoline," showing that source versus site energy consumption for electricity is not incorporated. (Source and site descriptions were presented in an earlier report on the BEV under the section EPA MPGe Methodology.) Thus, the 84  $CO_2$  grams per mile is understated by about three times. The label now includes the logos of the EPA and DOE, indicating that two government agencies are misrepresenting the Volt's MPG and  $CO_2$  emissions.

<u>Chevrolet Volt – 36 MPG Getting close to reality</u> Possibly due to negative press analysis of the first label, the EPA tried again with a new window sticker design in May 2011 (fig. 4). This most recent label includes the logos of the EPA and DOE, as well as a third government agency, the Department of Transportation (DOT), showing that three key government agencies are cooperating in providing misrepresentative consumer information. The November 2010 component "Example: Charging Routines" has been eliminated from the May 2011 label. Also gone is the combined-composite number, which was noted as 60 MPG on the November 2010 label.



Figure 4: May 2011 EPA Label for PHEV

Figure 4 values are very close to the Volt numbers but not exactly. There was no Volt window sticker available on the EPA web site; therefore this figure must be modified with information from the EPA website. The Volt's 94 MPGe using electricity and 37 MPG using gasoline were obtained separately using fueleconomy.gov.<sup>61, 62</sup> There is no composite number in this latest version which may mean the EPA may be backing off its support for the questionable methodology previously mentioned. The agency may well be strategizing as to how to better present PHEV and BEV numbers.

Table 2 is similar to the tables in the report on BEVs where the derivation was shown. Using the same methodology and accounting for source energy, the MPGe is developed.

Col. 1	Col. 2	Col. 3	Col. 4	Col. 5	Col. 6	Col. 7
Car Year/ Model	Mode	kWh/ 100 miles	kWh/ mile	Miles/ kWh	33.7 kWh MPGe	12.3 kWh MPGe
Volt	City	36	0.36	2.78	94	34
Volt	Highway	37	0.37	2.70	91	33
Volt	Combined	36	0.36	2.78	94	34

Assuming an average of 50 percent electric power and 50 percent gasoline power, the most accurate measure for a Volt would be 36 MPG—the average of the 34 MPGe for electricity and the 37 MPG gasoline engine value. Note these are my computations and do not reference any EPA numbers.

<u>Chevrolet Volt 40-50 MPG Using  $CO_2$  numbers</u> The May 2011 label includes the statement "This vehicle emits 84 grams  $CO_2$  per mile," reflecting in a slightly different form the same  $CO_2$  information presented on the November 2010 label. A new statement has been added to the May 2011 label: "Producing and distributing fuel and electricity also creates emissions; learn more at fueleconomy.gov." This is a little more specific than using the qualifier "tailpipe only" as was done on the November 2010 version. For the first time, there is a hint to the consumer that the  $CO_2$  emissions measurement is incomplete.

The information about MPG and  $CO_2$  emissions for a wide range of vehicles and different fuels is well known to the EPA and other government agencies. The data in the following table are taken from a recent DOE report that compares  $CO_2$  generated for different kinds of vehicles, including PHEVs.<sup>63</sup> In this table, the Volt is roughly the equivalent of a PHEV with a 40-mile range. There is a huge contradiction between the emissions numbers for a PHEV 40 and the emissions numbers from the label—270 grams of  $CO_2$  per mile versus 84 grams of  $CO_2$  per mile. The fact that the  $CO_2$  numbers given are so different for the same car points out the disinformation and resulting confusion.

Fuel	Grams of		
	CO <sub>2</sub> -Equiv.		
	per Mile		
Gasoline (today's vehicle)	450		
Gasoline (new vehicle)	340		
HEV	235		
PHEV 10 mile range	230		
PHEV 40 mile range	270		

Table 3: Comparing CO<sub>2</sub> of Various Architectures

Most of the information for my argument about misleading information is from EPA and DOE, two of the three agencies that produced the label. In fact, the correct numbers for total  $CO_2$  emissions can be found by going to the fueleconomy.gov site, selecting Site Map at the top right, then selecting Beyond Tailpipe Emissions, and entering a ZIP code. The  $CO_2$  emissions for that ZIP code are provided along with the average emissions for the country. The average emission for the Volt is 260 grams/mile, three times the 84 grams/mile from the window label and more than a HEV.<sup>64</sup> The value for a Prius is 230 grams per mile, slightly less than the generic HEV number in table 3.

It is a straightforward process to work backwards from CO<sub>2</sub> numbers to develop kWh per mile and from that the MPGe number. This shows the Volt to be in the 35–40 MPG, close to my 36 MPG estimate from the preceding energy evaluation.

## The High-Risk Volt PHEV Architecture

GM's Volt PHEV architecture was based on an extension to the EV1 to make it into what is called a "series hybrid" car.<sup>65</sup> The changes included lengthening the car to provide a back seat, as well as adding an Auxiliary Power Unit (APU) and a small gasoline fuel tank. The APU was a gasoline-powered turbine engine that started automatically when

the battery charge dropped below 40 percent and powered a generator that delivered 40 kW of electrical power, enough to achieve speeds up to 80 mph. It also recharged the car's NiMH (nickel-metal hydride) battery cells. Using the modified Magliozzi definition mentioned earlier, this prototype was an "... electric vehicle ... using a gasoline engine to supplement electric power."

In answer to an interviewer who asked what his worst decision was, former GM president Rick Wagoner responded, "Axing the EV1 electric-car program and not putting the right resources into hybrids.<sup>66</sup> It didn't affect profitability, but it did affect image." A March 2007 report about GM notes,<sup>67</sup> "GM R&D chief Larry Burns . . . now wishes GM hadn't killed the plug-in hybrid EV1 prototype his engineers had on the road a decade ago: 'If we could turn back the hands of time,' says Burns, 'we could have had the Chevy Volt 10 years earlier.'" GM positioned the Volt as an improved electric vehicle with a propulsion system that allowed the driver to continue beyond the range of the battery. In a 2008 article in *The Economist,* about Rick Wagoner, the magazine quotes GM<sup>68</sup> as saying, "And in 2010 GM is due to launch its revolutionary Chevrolet Volt, an electric car with a 'range-extending' internal-combustion engine that promises to make the Toyota Prius look like yesterday's technology."

This same description could apply to GM's experimental EV1 with an added APU. Basically, the Volt is using the same concept that Victor Wouk experimented with decades ago. It is a BEV with an added gasoline engine and an electricity generator—a competitor of HEVs such as the Prius rather than an improvement on it. There is a real question if this kind of design can be effective relative to fuel economy.

Improvements will occur, but it will be because of lithium ion battery technology that is superior to the lead acid and NiMH battery technologies of the late 1990s, not because of a new design. However, the same battery breakthrough will also be applied to the Prius, enabling it to operate at times as a BEV. This may result in two mixed-mode car architectures: one, a mostly gasoline-based vehicle with battery assist and possibly the ability to drive some distance on battery power (an enhanced Prius such as the recently announced Prius PHV) and the other, a mostly battery electric vehicle with a gasoline assist (the Volt). It is unclear which technology will win out. But it is a mistake to think that the Volt represents a more advanced version of the Prius. The success of the Volt is not assured, especially because its quoted miles per gallon are highly exaggerated.

It is possible that GM has different priorities than saving energy. The company has had a poor reputation for fuel efficiency compared to its major competitor, Toyota. GM vehicles in 2009 averaged 31.3 MPG versus Toyota's 35.9 MPG for domestic passenger cars and 33.0 MPG versus Toyota's 38.1 MPG for imported passenger cars.<sup>69</sup> Lutz was vice chairman of GM and had overall responsibility for the Volt. But he was not concerned with making a very fuel efficient car. In early 2008, Lutz made a now famous comment that "Global warming is a crock of shit."<sup>70</sup> He also said that GM had made a mistake by allowing Toyota to seize "the mantle of green respectability and technology leadership," with its market-leading Prius hybrid<sup>71</sup> and that hybrid cars like those made by Toyota "made no economic sense because their prices would never come down."<sup>72</sup> Lutz had said earlier that forcing automakers to sell smaller cars would be "like trying to address the obesity problem in this country by forcing clothing manufacturers to sell smaller, tighter sizes." He said that he was motivated more by the desire to replace imported oil than by the CO<sub>2</sub> argument.<sup>73</sup> In another interview where the reporter asked about his "crock" comment, Lutz noted that his motivations might include climate change, energy

independence, and conservation but the common denominator was a desire to get away from oil as a primary source of energy. He also said that fuel economy is valued by just a small, altruistic segment of the population.<sup>74</sup> In a 2010 book, "Chevrolet Volt: Charging into the Future," Lutz is quoted as saying:

This is not about maximizing range or computationally getting the maximum efficiency. This is about permitting the average American to drive fully electrically most of the time but with the backup of a gasoline engine. . . . It's not about trickily trying to get the best EPA number or the furtherist range or being able to say overall it consumes fewer BTUs than any other vehicle on the planet. That's not what it's about. It's about electric drive with the assurance of gasoline backup.<sup>75</sup>

Lutz's previous development success was the muscle car "Camaro" with a V8 engine that gets 18 MPG. Possibly this kind of car is more in tune with his philosophy.

GM's Volt is at its core a BEV—the wheels are turned by electricity from batteries similar to the way the EV1 and other electric cars of the 1990s and early 2000s worked. It uses lithium batteries and incorporates a gasoline engine that powers an electricity generator.<sup>76</sup> To some extent, the Volt's performance was set at the very beginning when it chose a design based on a research EV1 series hybrid car with an AUM range extender. As noted earlier, the car did not achieve its original 50 MPG gasoline mileage—it settled for 37 MPG. The more accurate MPG rating for electric mode (MPGe) is closer to 34 MPGe than to the 96 MPGe on the label when the energy to generate electricity is included. Combining the gasoline and electric performance, it may be roughly a 36 MPG car. The GM mindset was very different from that of Toyota, which selected fuel economy and reduced CO<sub>2</sub> emissions as its priorities. The Volt architecture is yet to be proven, and other architectures are coming, the most threatening one to GM being the Toyota Prius Plug In, scheduled for 2012 shipment.

In an article entitled "Electro-Shock Therapy" in the July/August 2008 *Atlantic*, author Jonathan Ranch described the risks being taken by GM with the Volt. This is a "bet your company" situation.<sup>77</sup> Our government may be starting to become more realistic. The *Presidential Task Force on the Auto Industry* was an ad hoc group of senior officials formed in February 2009 to direct the financial bailout of GM and Chrysler. One of its conclusions about the Volt was:

GM is at least one generation behind Toyota on advanced, "green" power train development. In an attempt to leapfrog Toyota, GM has devoted significant resources to the Chevy Volt. While the Volt holds promise, it is currently projected to be much more expensive than its gasoline-fueled peers and will likely need substantial reductions in manufacturing cost in order to become commercially viable.<sup>78, 79</sup>

John Petersen in an article entitled "U.S. Energy Information Administration: Electric Drive Forecasts Running in Reverse Since 2009," <sup>80</sup> shows that the government is backing off its earlier forecasts for PHEVs. His analysis of the yearly forecast for HEVs, PHEVS, and EVs from the Annual Energy Outlook<sup>81</sup> of the Energy Information Agency is shown in table 4.

Forecast Year	2010	2015	2020	2025	2030
	(000s)	(000s)	(000s)	(000s)	(000s)
2007 HEV Forecast	512.0	723.7	965.7	1,227.9	1,526.7
2008 HEV Forecast	572.6	1,322.3	2,220.6	2,452.2	2,667.9
2009 HEV Forecast	287.0	886.0	1,614.2	2,429.6	3,262.4
2010 HEV Forecast	286.5	744.0	985.0	1,226.7	1,508.7
2011 HEV Forecast	273.1	573.3	654.6	789.6	916.2
2007 PHEV Forecast	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
2008 PHEV Forecast	0.0	0.4	1.1	1.9	3.6
2009 PHEV Forecast	0.0	181.2	216.8	321.6	427.9
2010 PHEV Forecast	0.0	89.2	142.4	276.3	408.5
2011 PHEV Forecast	0.0	40.7	93.5	194.1	291.0
2007 EV Forecast	5.8	6.2	6.6	7.0	7.4
2008 EV Forecast	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2
2009 EV Forecast	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
2010 EV Forecast	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2
2011 EV Forecast	0.1	27.0	47.0	91.3	112.8

Table 4: EIA Forecasts for HEV/PHEV/EV

There has been a great deal of misleading information provided for the GM Volt and other PHEVS. At the same time, competition in the form of better hybrids, such as a 50-MPG version of the Prius, as well as pure BEVs are threatening the success of the Volt. In addition, Toyota is developing a less risky PHEV version.

#### Toyota's PHEV Strategy

Toyota, the world's undisputed leader in hybrid technology, is not ignoring the PHEV. In July 2007, an experimental Prius PHEV was certified for public road use by Japan's Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, and Transport. It used a NiMH battery pack and had an all-electric range of eight miles with a maximum speed of 62 mph.<sup>82</sup> (Recall that all the U.S. modified Priuses were limited to a maximum speed of 34 mph until the summer of 2009.) After certifying the car in Japan, Toyota formed a partnership with Électricité de France (EDF) to evaluate PHEVs in Europe.<sup>83</sup> Road trials began in France in autumn 2007. EDF and Toyota developed a charging and invoicing system, installed in each of the test vehicles, that is compatible with a new generation of public charging stations. A year later EDF and Toyota extended these trials to the United Kingdom.<sup>84</sup> Toyota had taken a more measured approach to its PHEV research, saying that the concept was not yet proven. Compare this to the attitude of EPRI, GM, and CalCars, who in 2004 claimed that the concept was already proven. The Seattle and Google experience with third-party modified versions of the Prius+ disproved that point.

In early 2008, Toyota's president, Katsuaki Watanabe, said the company would introduce a test fleet of several hundred next-generation plug-in Prius hybrids that would use lithium ion battery packs made by Panasonic.<sup>85</sup> These test Prius PHEVs went to governmental, academic, and commercial fleets in Asia, Europe, and the United States for large-scale field testing. In 2009, EDF and Toyota expanded the PHEV demonstration efforts in Strasbourg, France<sup>86</sup> and included the delivery of about 100 units of next-generation PHEVs. Also in 2009, Toyota began leasing 200 plug-in

versions of its Prius PHEV in Japan.<sup>87</sup> An additional 150 were leased in Europe and another 150 in the United States. In January 2011, Toyota announced the Prius plug-in version, branded as a Prius PHV, would be available for purchase in 2012.<sup>88</sup> It will have a range of 13 miles with a maximum speed of 62 MPG. It will be significantly cheaper than the Volt and will have a fuel economy figure for gasoline-only driving of 50 MPG versus the Volt's 37 MPG.

Petersen points out that Toyota is the biggest manufacturer of hybrid electric vehicles (HEV),<sup>89</sup> with more than 2 million sold since 1997. He notes that Toyota is also the world's biggest manufacturer of advanced automotive battery packs, owning a majority share in Panasonic. Petersen described the plug-in Prius as a PHEV-13, meaning that it has 13 miles of electric drive range as opposed to the 35-mile electric range of the GM Volt. Toyota explains this, saying:

Toyota is of the belief that the smaller the battery in a PHV the better, both from a total lifecycle assessment (carbon footprint) point of view, as well as a cost point of view. Research has shown that plug-in hybrid vehicles with smaller batteries, charged frequently (every 20 miles or less) with average U.S. electricity produce less green house gas emissions than conventional hybrid vehicles (according to a 2009 Carnegie Mellon University study). And as battery size increases, so does the battery cost resulting in higher overall vehicle cost.<sup>90</sup>

Toyota described its extensive research efforts, using hundreds of early vehicle releases:

The Prius PHV [Toyota's designation for PHEV] will come to market in 2012. The PHV demonstration program is designed to gather real-world driving data and customer feedback on plug-in hybrid technology. In addition, the program will confirm the overall performance of the first-generation lithium-ion battery technology in a variety of use cases. Toyota must ensure that the vehicle/battery meets customers' expectations before it is brought to market. The results of this program will make sure that the vehicle coming to market in 2012 will exceed customer's expectations and meet plug-in customers' demands.

Toyota has taken a much more conservative approach than GM. The Japanese automaker notes some of the reasons for its conservative approach, saying:

Toyota believes that PHVs can be part of a solution to climate change and for energy security, for certain customers, in certain geographic areas, with certain grid-mixes, with certain drive-cycles, and with access to charging. There will be an important role for PHVs, but it will not be in high volume until there are significant improvements in overall battery performance . . . and battery cost reduction.

Toyota provided pricing and updated specifications on the plug-in Prius PHV in September 2011. <sup>91, 92</sup> The announcements noted that since 1997, Toyota has sold more than 3.3 million full hybrid vehicles worldwide (80 percent of all global hybrid sales) and 2.3 million of these cars are Priuses. For comparison, Toyota noted that the standard Prius CO<sub>2</sub> generation is 89g/km, while the PHV is targeted at 49 g/km. More

exact calculations were not provided. The new lithium ion battery holds 4.4 kWh and is estimated to provide 15 miles of driving; maximum EV speed is 62 mph. If one divides 15 by 4.4 kW, the result is .34 miles per kWh, which is similar to the values for the Volt and Leaf (see table 2.8).

Toyota took very careful steps in developing its PHEV. It may be that its more conservative approach, using the world's most economical hybrid car, the Prius, as a platform, will be a strong competitor to the Volt. The company is in a strong position, offering a standard hybrid car and a plug-in optional version. It can let the market decide. GM does not have an alternative to a standard HEV such as the Prius. This deficiency puts GM in a very risky position.

## Conclusion

The PHEV, particularly as represented by the Chevrolet Volt, is a combination of technology, hope, and hype. GM's goal was not to reduce greenhouse gases but to remove the nation's dependence on foreign oil, ignoring the fact that coal would be the substitute. The Volt has been marketed by deliberately misrepresenting fuel economy. One of the main perpetrators of this misrepresentation is the electric power industry through its organization EPRI. Very small advocacy organizations along with well-known individuals, have sold Americans on a "breakthrough" technology that offers mileage claims in the hundreds of miles per gallon. The government, at all levels, starting with the President of the United States and including DOE, DOT, and the EPA, have supported the misrepresentation of the so-called "electrification of transport" effort.

Honesty and full transparency means the MPG numbers for PHEVs must include the source and site energy consumed along with the source and site  $CO_2$  generated. If (MPGe) is used, it must be done in a way similar to the way the energy industry uses barrels of oil equivalent (boe) when comparing different fossil fuels used to generate electricity, including coal, natural gas, and oil. PHEVs should also include the  $CO_2$  generated on a "wells to wheels" basis using source energy  $CO_2$  emissions. "Wells to wheels" analysis incorporates all the energy components and stages. Fuel economy labels should make  $CO_2$  generation numbers as prominent as MPG numbers, using the same fonts and font sizes.

The national fuel mix for electricity-generating power plants differs from one region to another while MPG for gasoline cars is the same in all regions. Thus CO<sub>2</sub> emissions per mile for PHEVs will differ in different places. The different values are easily obtained being updated annually by various government agencies.<sup>93</sup> National CO<sub>2</sub> emissions should be on all window stickers with regional CO<sub>2</sub> emissions available from the fueleconomy.gov website. Arguments from graphic designers about label sizes and styles should not be allowed to keep this information from the public.

Some PHEV proponents reluctantly acknowledge that the PHEV lags HEV technology in terms of present mileage and emissions but offer a counterargument stating that even though  $CO_2$  emissions are not reduced with battery cars today, they will be someday in the future when renewable energies such as wind and solar PV are in large supply. Alternatively, it is suggested that carbon capture and storage (CCS) will remove the  $CO_2$  emissions from the atmosphere. Such massive changes to the electrical grid may or may not be possible. Tens of millions of wind generators will be needed. CCS must be proven

to work. All this is hypothetically possible but is likely to be some decades into the future. And we will need renewables to fill our other electrical needs. More likely, we will build a relatively small number of EVs and PHEVs, powered mostly by electricity from coal, which will help get us off Middle East oil over which our control is limited. This will improve our so-called energy security, but our climate insecurity from increased CO<sub>2</sub> emissions will continue to increase. Whatever mileage improvements come will probably be based on the decade-old and now somewhat well established Hybrid cars.

Volt sales have been affected by the furor in the press calling out the perceived deception of the government's fuel economy numbers. Volt sales have been lackluster, with only 7,671 sold in its first year (2011). <sup>94</sup> Higher sales of a car that is being marketed by its manufacturer and the U.S. government would have been expected. However, the current label still ignores the question of source versus site energy (power plant versus car usage) and total  $CO_2$  emissions.

Eventually, we can expect a new label that will show an MPGe for electric operation of about 33 MPG and  $CO_2$  emissions near 200 grams of  $CO_2$  per mile rather than the current 93 MPG and the 84 grams of  $CO_2$  per mile on the current label.

I have referred frequently to the government and industry efforts over three decades that have been ineffective, including the fuel cell car, the diesel hybrid, and the electric car. The pluggable hybrid may turn out to be the failure of the second decade of the new millennium. If it does, it may share the common pattern of misdirection associated with the other "also ran" automobile technology efforts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Plug-In Vehicles: The First Great Fraud of the New Millennium by John Petersen March 16, 2010, <u>http://seekingalpha.com/article/193847-plug-in-vehicles-the-first-great-fraud-of-the-new-millennium</u>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Why Plug-In Vehicles Are a Luxury No Nation and No Investor Can Afford by John Petersen February 14, 2011,

http://seekingalpha.com/article/252568-why-plug-in-vehicles-are-a-luxury-no-nation-and-noinvestor-can-afford?source=email\_partial\_daily\_dispatch, Accessed Sep 2011

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It's Time To Kill The Electric Car, Drive A Stake Through Its Heart And Burn The Corpse by John Pederson, August 25, 2011 <u>http://seekingalpha.com/article/289828-it-s-time-to-kill-the-electric-car-drive-a-stake-through-its-heart-and-burn-the-corpse</u>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Barack Obama Speech: New Energy for America given August 4, 2008 in Lansing Michigan http://www.pbs.org/newshour/bb/politics/july-dec08/obamaenergy\_08-04.html, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> "GM Hopes Volt Juices Its Future" by Sharon Terlep, Wall Street Journal, 081209; <u>http://online.wsj.com/article/SB124998537270122333.html</u>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011
<sup>6</sup> The History of Electric Vehicles;

http://inventors.about.com/od/estartinventions/a/History-Of-Electric-Vehicles.htm, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> "Victor Wouk, 86, Dies; Built Early Hybrid Car" by Stuart Lavietes, New York Times, June 12, 2005; <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2005/06/12/national/12wouk.html</u>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> "His pet PHEV: UC Davis' father of the plug-in hybrid electric vehicle says we're finally ready to drive green" by Cynthia Hubert, Sacramento Bee, Apr. 18, 2008, Accessed July 2009 (No longer on line as of Sep 1, 2011)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Plug In Hybrids: The Cars That Will Recharge America by Sherry Boschert, New Society Publishers, 2006

<sup>10</sup> GAO report on Electric and Hybrid vehicles funding, Sept. 1, 1977; <a href="http://redbook.gao.gov/17/fl0080346.php">http://redbook.gao.gov/17/fl0080346.php</a>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011
<sup>11</sup> Partnership for a New Generation of Vehicles Description;

http://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/pngv.shtml, Accessed Sep 1, 2011 <sup>12</sup> PNGV Discussion;

http://www.pngv.org/main/index.php?option=com\_content&task=blogcategory&id=14&Itemid=26, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>13</sup> "A Detroit bailout must include a green makeover" by Jim Motavailli, Guardian, Nov
24, 2008; <u>http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2008/nov/24/networktravelandtransport</u>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>14</sup> GM Unveils Concept Car That Gets 108 Miles A Gallon by Jeff Kuhlman <a href="http://www.electrifyingtimes.com/gmprecept.html">http://www.electrifyingtimes.com/gmprecept.html</a>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>15</sup> Ford Prodigy by Jon Harmon, Jan. 20, 2000; <a href="http://www.electrifyingtimes.com/fordprodigy.html">http://www.electrifyingtimes.com/fordprodigy.html</a> Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>16</sup> Chrysler Hybrid-Electric Cars of the 1990 <http://www.allpar.com/model/intrepid-esx3. html> Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>17</sup> Remarks by Vice President Al Gore on PNGV, The White House, March 30, 2000; <u>http://clinton4.nara.gov/WH/EOP/OVP/speeches/pngv\_environment.html</u>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>18</sup> Review of the Research Program of the Partnership for a New Generation of Vehicles: Seventh Report (2001) by Transportation Research Board; <a href="http://www.nap.edu/openbook.php?record\_id=10180&page=R16">http://www.nap.edu/openbook.php?record\_id=10180&page=R16</a>> Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>19</sup> CRS Report for Congress PNGV by Fred Sissine, Feb. 28, 1996; <a href="http://ncseonline.org/nle/crsreports/energy/eng-9.cfm">http://ncseonline.org/nle/crsreports/energy/eng-9.cfm</a> Accessed July 2010 – No longer on Internet as of Sep 1, 2011

2011 <sup>20</sup> Freedom Car and Fuel Partnership Plan; <a href="http://www1.eere.energy.gov/vehiclesandfuels/">http://www1.eere.energy.gov/vehiclesandfuels/</a> pdfs/program/fc\_fuel\_partnership\_plan.Pdf> Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>21</sup> U.S. Drops Research Into Fuel Cells for Cars by Matthew L. Wald, May 7, 2009, New York Times, <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2009/05/08/science/earth/08energy.html</u>

Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>22</sup> GM: Hybrid cars make no sense: GM executive Lutz argues critically acclaimed hybrid compacts like Toyota Prius are bad business, by Chris Isidore, January 6, 2004:

http://money.cnn.com/2004/01/06/pf/autos/detroit\_gm\_hybrids/, Accessed Sep 1, 2011 <sup>23</sup> Chevrolet Volt – Charging Into the Future by Larry Edsall, Motorbooks-MBI Publishing Company 2010

*Company 2010* <sup>24</sup> "On the Horizon: Building a Business Case, The Story in Brief" by John Douglas (Background info by Mark Duvall), EPRI History, EPRI Journal, Page 8, Spring 2008; <u>http://mydocs.epri.com/docs/public/0000000001016422.pdf</u>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011 <sup>25</sup> EPRI's Contributions to the Development of PHEV Technology, November 2007 (Download

<sup>25</sup> EPRI's Contributions to the Development of PHEV Technology, November 2007 (Download Product ID Number 1014887); <u>http://et.epri.com/publicdocuments.html</u>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011
<sup>26</sup> "Comparing the Benefits and Impacts of Hybrid Electric Vehicle Options," EPRI,

Report 1000349 by multiple organizations, July 2001; <a href="http://mydocs.epri.com/docs/">http://mydocs.epri.com/docs/</a> public/0000000000000000349.pdf> Accessed Sep 1, 2011 <sup>27</sup> "Driving the Solution-The Plug In Hybrid Vehicle" by Lucy Sanna, EPRI Journal, Fall

<sup>27</sup> "Driving the Solution-The Plug In Hybrid Vehicle" by Lucy Sanna, EPRI Journal, Fall 2005; <a href="http://mydocs.epri.com/docs/CorporateDocuments/EPRI\_Journal/2005-Fall/1012885\_PHEV.pdf">http://mydocs.epri.com/docs/CorporateDocuments/EPRI\_Journal/2005-Fall/1012885\_PHEV.pdf</a>> Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>28</sup> Calcars Site; <u>http://www.calcars.org/</u> Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>29</sup> http://www.flickr.com/photos/jurvetson/166554450/

<sup>30</sup> "What we can do and must do now to break America's Dependence on Foreign Oil and Bring Down Energy Prices" by Joseph Lieberman, October 7, 2005;

http://lieberman.senate.gov/index.cfm/news-events/speeches-op-eds/2005/10/e2809cwhat-wecan-and-must-do-now-to-break-americae28099s-dependence-on-foreign-oil-and-bring-down-

energy-pricese2809d-loewy-lecture-georgetown-university, Accessed Sep 1, 2011 <sup>31</sup> "Oil and Security" by George P. Schultz and R. James Woolsey, A Committee on the Present Danger Policy Paper, August 5, 2005

<sup>32</sup> Plug In Hybrids: The Cars That Will Recharge America by Sherry Boschert, New Society

Publishers, 2006

<sup>33</sup> "Gentlemen, Start Your Plug-ins" by R. James Woolsey, Wall Street Journal, 12/30/06 <sup>34</sup> "Continuing the Clean Car Revolution" by Paula Dobriansky and R James Woolsey, Wall Street Journal, May 24, 2008

<sup>35</sup> "Hvbrid Vehicles Gain Traction" by Joseph J. Romm and Andrew A. Frank; Scientific American; April 2006

"America needs to reduce its gasoline consumption. But how? By promoting plug-in hybrid electric vehicles" by Joseph Romm and Peter Fox-Penner, Blueprint magazine Electric Wheels, April 23, 2007; http://www.dlc.org/ndol\_ci.cfm?kaid=116&subid=153&contentid=254272, Accessed Sep 1, 2011 <sup>37</sup> Austin Energy Company Description; <u>http://www.hoovers.com/company/Austin\_Energy/hctjti-</u>

1.html, Accessed Sep 1, 2011 <sup>38</sup> "Austin Alt Car: Austin Energy ends Plug-in Partners, unveils new smart charging software"

by Sebastian Blancl, Oct. 18, 2008;

http://green.autoblog.com/2008/10/18/austin-alt-car-austin-energy-ends-plug-in-partners-unveilsnew/, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>39</sup> Plug In America Website; <u>http://www.pluginamerica.org/</u> Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>40</sup> "Plug-in Vehicles are Practical, Proven, and Ready;" <a href="http://www.pluginamerica.org/">http://www.pluginamerica.org/</a> images/PIA\_CARB\_sep06.pdf> Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>41</sup> Plug In America History; http://www.pluginamerica.org/about-us.html Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>42</sup> "Software Upgrade to Prius PHEV NiMH Conversion Kit Enables All-Electric Driving At Up to 70mph" by Green Car Congress, June 10, 2009; <a href="http://www.greencarcongress">http://www.greencarcongress</a>. com/2009/06/picc-20090610.html> Accessed Sep 1, 2011 <sup>43</sup> Mayor unveils city of Seattle's first 100 MPG plug-in hybrid car; May 30, 2008,

<a>http://www.seattle.gov/news/detail.asp?ID=8496&dept=40> Accessed Sep 1, 2011</a> "Reality check on plug-in cars" by Danny Westneat, The Seattle Times, February 22, 2009; http://seattletimes.nwsource.com/html/dannywestneat/2008771363 danny22.html, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>45</sup> Google experience with their modified PHEVs <u>www.google.org/recharge/dashboard</u>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>46</sup> Deriving In-Use PHEV Fuel Economy Predictions from Standardized Test Cycle Results by J. Gonder and A. Brooker – National Renewable Energy Laboratory and R. Carlson and J. Smart - Idaho National Laboratory, Presented at the 5th IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference, Dearborn, Michigan, September 7-11, 2009; <a href="http://www.nrel">http://www.nrel</a>. gov/docs/fy09osti/46251.pdf>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

LA Auto Show Loses Exhibitor in Fight Over Plug-In Hybrid Fuel Economy Promo; http://www.autoobserver.com/2008/11/la-auto-show-loses-exhibitor-in-fight-over-plug-in-hybridfuel-economy-promo.html, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>48</sup> "150 MPG Hybrid SUV Company Claims It is Being Muzzled" by Nick Chambers, Nov. 9, 2008; http://gas2.org/2008/11/09/150-mpg-hybrid-suv-company-claims-it-is-beingmuzzled/.

Accessed Sep 1, 2010

<sup>49</sup> Chart showing AFS estimate of miles per gallon; <http://www.afstrinity.net/Jan08-AFSTrinity-XH150-Presentation.pdf> Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>50</sup> <u>http://afstrinity.com/company/faq.htm#mileage</u>

<sup>51</sup> Chevrolet Volt – GM's Concept Electric Vehicle - Could Nearly Eliminate Trips to the Gas Station; <http://www.batterypoweronline.com/images/PDFs articles whitepaper appros/AppProCVolt.pdf>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

2007 Chevrolet Volt Concept, Story by GM, edited by Supercars.net

http://www.supercars.net/cars/3714.html

<sup>53</sup> The Rebirth of the Electric Car by David Pogue, New York Times, September 20, 2007 http://poque.blogs.nvtimes.com/2007/09/20/the-rebirth-of-the-electric-car/?hp

"EPA backs away from GM claim of 230 MPG for Volt" by Jeremy Korzeniewshi, Aug.

11, 2009; http://green.autoblog.com/2009/08/11/epa-backs-away-from-gm-claim-of-230-mpg-forvolt/ Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>55</sup> http://news.pickuptrucks.com/2011/05/epa-debuts-new-fuel-economy-labels.html, Accessed Sep 1. 2011

<sup>56</sup> "Why are the VOLT and LEAF EVs Measured in Miles Per Gallon, Electric Vehicle News, August 15, 2009 http://electric-vehicles-cars-bikes.blogspot.com/2009/08/why-are-volt-and-leafevs-measured-in.html# <sup>57</sup> Electric and Hybrid Vehicle Research, Development, and Demonstration Program; Petroleum-

Equivalent Fuel Economy Calculation [Federal Register: June 12, 2000 (Volume 65, Number 113)] [Rules and Regulations] [Page 36985-36992] http://www.epa.gov/EPA-IMPACT/2000/June/Day-12/i14446.htm

<sup>58</sup> National Labs Developing Methodology for Estimating Real World Fuel and Electricity Consumption of Plug-in Hybrids Based on Dynamometer Data by Green Car Congress, 29 September 2009; <http://www.greencarcongress.com/2009/09/nrel-phev-20090929. html#more>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>59</sup> http://gm-volt.com/2010/11/24/official-2011-chevrolet-volt-epa-fuel-economy-released/

60 http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Chevy\_Volt\_EPA\_Fuel\_Economy\_Official\_Label.png

<sup>61</sup> http://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/phevsbs.shtml

62 http://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/label/learn-more-PHEV-label.shtml

<sup>63</sup> Well-to-Wheels Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Petroleum Use for Mid-Size Light Duty Vehicles by Tien Nouven and Jake Ward. Program Record (Offices of Vehicle Technologies and Fuel Cell Technologies) Record # 10001, October 5, 2010

http://www.hydrogen.energy.gov/pdfs/10001 well to wheels gge petroleum use.pdf

<sup>64</sup> www.fueleconomy.gov Select New window Sticker and select Beyond tailpipe Emissions from drop down. <sup>65</sup> General Motors EV1 Discussion;

http://www.absoluteastronomy.com/topics/General Motors EV1 Accessed Sep 1, 2011 <sup>66</sup> No More Mr Nice Guy: Faced with crippling health-care costs and escalating worldwide

competition, GM's man at the top looks to the East for salvation, by Gavin Green, from the June, 2006 issue of Motor Trend, Interview: Rick Wagoner, General Motors Co

http://www.motortrend.com/features/112 0606 rick wagoner general motors/viewall.html#ixzz1 XN4rpcKi

<sup>67</sup> Comin' Through! by Keith Naughton, Mar 11, 2007,

http://www.thedailybeast.com/newsweek/2007/03/11/comin-through.html, Accessed Sep 1, 2011 68 Mr Detroit," Economist Magazine, Dec. 11 2008;

http://www.economist.com/people/displaystory.cfm?story\_id=12758963

Accessed Sep 1, 2011 <sup>69</sup> Corporate Average Fuel Economy: How Automakers Rank by Kelsey Mays, Cars.com 12/14/2010

http://www.cars.com/go/advice/Story.jsp?section=fuel&story=cafe&subject=fuelList

<sup>70</sup> Bob Lutz: Global Warming 'a Crock of Sh\*t' and Hybrids Don't Make Sense by Chuck Squatriglia February 13, 2008 http://www.wired.com/autopia/2008/02/bob-lutz-global/

<sup>71</sup> GM exec stands by calling global warming a "crock" by Gary Cameron, Feb 22, 2008, Reuters http://www.reuters.com/article/2008/02/22/environment-gm-globalwarming-dcidUSN2237297620080222?sp=true

<sup>72</sup> GM's Bob Lutz: Global Warming Is A 'Crock Of Shit' February 22, 2008

http://www.environmentalleader.com/2008/02/22/gms-bob-lutz-global-warming-is-crock-of-shit/ <sup>73</sup> GM's Bob Lutz: Global warming is a "total crock of sh\*t" by <u>Lascelles Linton</u> Feb 13<sup>th</sup>, 2008

http://green.autoblog.com/2008/02/13/gms-bob-lutz-global-warming-is-a-total-crock-of-sh-t/ <sup>74</sup> Bob Lutz asked about his "crock of shi\*t" comment by <u>Lascelles Linton</u> Mar 17th 2008 11:52AM http://green.autoblog.com/2008/03/17/video-bob-lutz-asked-about-his-crock-of-shi-t-comment/

<sup>75</sup> Chevrolet Volt – Charging into the Future by Larry Edsall Motorbooks – an imprint of MSI Publishing Company 2010

<sup>76</sup> http://delphi.com/pdf/techpapers/2005-01-1172.pdf

Electric Vehicle Range Extension Using an SOFC APU by Jean J. Botti, M. James Grieve and John A. MacBain, Delphi, Dynamics & Propulsion Innovation Center Reprinted From: Advanced Hybrid Vehicle Powertrains 2005

(SP-1973), SAE Technical Paper Series 2005-01-1172 Accessed Sep 1, 2010

"Electro-Shock Therapy" by Jonathan Rauch, The Atlantic, July/August 2008; <a href="http://">http://</a> www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2008/07/electroshock-therapy/6871>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>78</sup> Presidential Auto Task Force Concluded Plug-In GM Volt Likely "Too Expensive To Be Commercially Successful in the Short-Term" Green Car Congress 31 March 2009 http://www.greencarcongress.com/2009/03/presidential-auto-task-force-concluded-plugin-gmvolt-likely-too-expensive-to-be-commercially-succes.html, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>79</sup> Determination of Viability Summary General Motors Corporation, <u>GM February 17 Plan</u> Viability Determination Summary, March 30, 2009

http://www.whitehouse.gov/assets/documents/GM Viability Assessment.pdf, Accessed Sep 1.

2011 <sup>80</sup> "U.S. Energy Information Administration: Electric Drive Forecasts Running in Reverse Since 2009" by John Petersen, January 9, 2011 http://seekingalpha.com/article/245533-u-s-energyinformation-administration-electric-drive-forecasts-running-in-reverse-since-2009 Accessed Sep 1,2011

<sup>81</sup> Annual Energy Outlook 2010, May 11, 2010,

http://www.eia.gov/oiaf/archive/aeo10/index.html, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>82</sup> "Tovota Announces Development of Plug-In Hybrid; First Manufacturer to Have PHEV Certified for Public Road Use in Japan" by Green Car Congress, July 25, 2007, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

http://www.greencarcongress.com/2007/07/toyota-announce.html, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>83</sup> "EDF and Toyota Announce European Technology Partnership for Plug-in Hybrid Vehicles" by Green Car Congress Sept. 5 2007; <a href="http://www.greencarcongress">http://www.greencarcongress</a>. com/2007/09/edf-and-toyota-.html>, Accessed Sep 1, 2011

<sup>84</sup> "EDF Energy and Toyota Launch UK Trials of PHEV" by Green Car Congress, 10 September 2008; http://www.greencarcongress.com/2008/09/edf-energy-and.html, Accessed Sep

1,2011 <sup>85</sup> "Detroit 2008: Toyota President Katsuaki Watanabe pops in at party with surprise announcements" by Sam Abuelsamid, Jan. 13 2008; <a href="http://green.autoblog.com/">http://green.autoblog.com/</a> 2008/01/13/detroit-2008-toyota-president-katsuaki-watanabe-pops-in-at-part/>, Accessed Sep 1,

2011 <sup>86</sup> "EDF and Toyota Expand Plug-in Hybrid Vehicle Demonstration Efforts in Strasbourg, France" by Green Car Congress, 18 March 2009; http://www.greencarcongress.com/2009/03/edfand-toyota-expand-plugin-hybrid-vehicle-demonstration-efforts-in-strasbourg-france.html Access Sep 1, 2011

"Toyota to Lease 200PHEVs in Japan Starting at End of 2009, 500 Globally; Gen3 Prius Plus Li-ion Pack" by Green Car Congress, 3 June 2009; <a href="http://www.greencarcongress">http://www.greencarcongress</a>. com/2009/06/tmc-200-phev-20090603.html> Accessed Sep 1, 2011 <sup>88</sup> Toyota introduces other members of the Prius family; mid-size and compact 10 January 2011

http://www.greencarcongress.com/2011/01/tovota-introduces-other-members-of-the-prius-familymid-size-and-compact.html Access Sep 1, 2011 <sup>89</sup> "Plug-in Vehicles: Toyota Tells the Unvarnished Truth" by John Petersen July 11, 2010

http://seekingalpha.com/article/213920-plug-in-vehicles-tovota-tells-the-unvarnished-truth

Accessed Oct 1, 2011 <sup>90</sup> Prius PHV FAQ <u>http://www.toyota.com/esq/articles/2010/Prius Plug In Hybrid Vehicle</u> percent28PHV percent29\_FAQ.html Accessed Sep 1, 2011 <sup>91</sup> The New Prius Family by Toyota, Sep 13, 2011 <u>http://www.toyotagb-</u>

press.co.uk/protected/vehicles/releases/2011/65288toy\_Toyota\_Prius.htm <sup>92</sup> Toyota introduces 2012 Prius Plug-in Hybrid by Green Car Congress Sep 17, 2011 http://www.greencarcongress.com/2011/09/toyota-introduces-2012-prius-plug-in-hybrid.html

http://www.epa.gov/cleanenergy/energy-resources/egrid/fag.html

<sup>94</sup> Hybrid Market Dashboard – Monthly Market Dashboard Updates http://www.hybridcars.com/market-dashboard.html